

# Chemistry, Biology and Pharmacology of Lichen

#### **Edited by**

Ashoke Kumar Das • Ajay Sharma • Deepika Kathuria Mohammad Javed Ansari • Garima Bhardwaj



Chemistry, Biology and Pharmacology of Lichen

## Chemistry, Biology and Pharmacology of Lichen

Edited by

Ashoke Kumar Das Department of Botany Abhayapuri College, Guwahati University Bongaigaon, India

Ajay Sharma Department of Chemistry Chandigarh University, Gharuan, Punjab, India

Deepika Kathuria Department of Chemistry University Centre for Research and Development (UCRD) Chandigarh University, Gharuan, Punjab, India

Mohammad Javed Ansari Department of Botany Hindu College Moradabad Moradabad, India

Garima Bhardwaj Department of Chemistry Sant Longowal Institute Sangrur, India

## WILEY

This edition first published 2024 © 2024 John Wiley & Sons Ltd

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by law. Advice on how to obtain permission to reuse material from this title is available at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

The right of Ashoke Kumar Das, Ajay Sharma, Deepika Kathuria, Mohammad Javed Ansari, and Garima Bhardwaj to be identified as the authors of the editorial material in this work has been asserted in accordance with law.

#### Registered Office(s)

John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, USA John Wiley & Sons Ltd, The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, UK

For details of our global editorial offices, customer services, and more information about Wiley products visit us at www.wiley.com.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some content that appears in standard print versions of this book may not be available in other formats.

Trademarks: Wiley and the Wiley logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the United States and other countries and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

#### *Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty*

While the publisher and authors have used their best efforts in preparing this work, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this work and specifically disclaim all warranties, including without limitation any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales representatives, written sales materials or promotional statements for this work. This work is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for your situation. You should consult with a specialist where appropriate. The fact that an organization, website, or product is referred to in this work as a citation and/or potential source of further information does not mean that the publisher and authors endorse the information or services the organization, website, or product may provide or recommendations it may make. Further, readers should be aware that websites listed in this work may have changed or disappeared between when this work was written and when it is read. Neither the publisher nor authors shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, consequential, or other damages.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Das, Ashoke Kumar, 1977-editor. | Sharma, Ajay, 1989-editor. | Kathuria, Deepika, 1990-editor. | Ansari, Mohammad Javed, 1978-editor. | Bhardwaj, Garima, 1988-editor. Title: Chemistry, biology and pharmacology of lichen / edited by Ashoke Kumar Das, Ajay Sharma, Deepika Kathuria, Mohammad Javed Ansari, Garima Bhardwai, Description: First edition. | Hoboken, NJ : Wiley, 2024. | Includes bibliographical references and index. Identifiers: LCCN 2024016841 (print) | LCCN 2024016842 (ebook) | ISBN 9781394190676 (hardback) | ISBN 9781394190683 (adobe pdf) | ISBN 9781394190690 (epub) Subjects: LCSH: Lichens. | Lichens-Ecology. | Lichens-Therapeutic use. | Lichen products. Classification: LCC QK583 .S53 2024 (print) | LCC QK583 (ebook) | DDC 579.7-dc23/eng/20240510 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2024016841 LC ebook record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2024016842 Cover Design: Wiley Cover Image: © gorwol/Shutterstock

Set in 9.5/12.5pt STIXTwoText by Straive, Pondicherry, India

#### Dedication

This book is dedicated to my beloved family. Ashoke Kumar Das

#### Contents

List of Contributors xv Preface xix

#### **1** Overview of Lichen 1

Ashoke Kumar Das, Subrata Sarkar, and Papori Devi

- 1.1 Introduction 1
- 1.2 Distribution 2
- 1.3 Morphology and Anatomy 4
- 1.4 Reproduction 5
- 1.5 Lichen Phytochemicals 6
- 1.6 Economic Importance 7
- 1.7 Conservation 7
- 1.8 Conclusion 8 References 9

#### 2 The Biology of Lichen 13

Ludmilla Fitri Untari

- 2.1 Introduction 13
- 2.2 Lichen Life Form 14
- 2.2.1 Crustose 14
- 2.2.2 Foliose 15
- 2.2.3 Fruticose 15
- 2.2.4 Leprose 15
- 2.2.5 Squamulose 16
- 2.3 The Internal Structure of Lichen 16
- 2.4 Reproduction of Lichen 16
- 2.5 Lichen Substrates 18 References 19

#### **3 Taxonomy of Lichen** 21

Darshita Sinha, Munmi Borkataky, Bhaben Chowardhara, and Ratul Nath

- 3.1 Introduction 21
- 3.2 Identification of Lichen 22
- 3.2.1 Microscopic Approaches 22
- 3.2.1.1 Morphology 22

- viii Contents
  - 3.2.1.2 Anatomy 24
  - 3.2.2 Chemical Approaches 24
  - 3.2.2.1 Color Spot Test 24
  - 3.2.2.2 Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC) 25
  - 3.2.2.3 High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) 25
  - 3.2.3 Molecular Approaches 25
  - 3.3 Nomenclature of Lichen 25
  - 3.4 Classification of Lichen 26
  - 3.5 Phylogeny of Lichen 29
  - 3.6 Molecular Taxonomy of Lichens 30
  - 3.7 Therapeutic and Commercial Values of Lichen 31
  - 3.8 Conclusion 31
    - Authors' Conflict 34
      - Authors' Contribution 34
      - References 34

#### 4 Lichen as Habitats for Other Organisms 39

- Ludmilla Fitri Untari
- 4.1 Introduction 39
- 4.2 Lichens as Habitat 39
- 4.2.1 Microorganism Living in Lichen 39
- 4.2.1.1 Fungi 40
- 4.2.1.2 Lichen Photobiont 43
- 4.2.2 Insects and Other Invertebrates Living on Lichen 44
- 4.2.3 Vertebrates Using Lichen as a Shelter or Food 44
- 4.3 Benefits of Living in Lichens 45
- 4.4 Importance of Lichen for Biodiversity 45
- 4.5 Threats to Lichen Habitats 46
- 4.6 Conclusion 46 References 46

#### 5 Ecology of Lichen 49

Tridip Boruah, Krity Dulal, and Puja Namo Das

- 5.1 Introduction 49
- 5.2 Ecological Habitats 50
- 5.3 Ecological Factors for Lichen Development 52
- 5.3.1 Effect of Climate on Growth of Lichen 53
- 5.3.2 Rainfall 53
- 5.3.3 Temperature 54
- 5.3.4 Snowfall 54
- 5.3.5 Light Intensity 55
- 5.3.6 Interaction Between Factors 55
- 5.3.7 Rock Chemistry 55
- 5.3.8 Bird Dropping 55

- 5.3.9 Nitrogen and Phosphorus 56
- 5.3.10 Salinity 56
- 5.3.11 Pollution 56
- 5.4 Adaptations of Lichen 57
- 5.4.1 Adaptation of Lichen to Anthropogenic Activities 57
- 5.4.2 Adaptations in Freshwater 58
- 5.4.3 Terricolous Lichen 58
- 5.4.4 Adaptation to Marine Lichens 59
- 5.4.5 Corticolous Lichen 60
- 5.5 Lichens in Extreme Habitat 60
- 5.5.1 Antarctica 60
- 5.5.2 Chemically Rich Environments 61
- 5.5.3 Extra-terrestrial Environments 62
- 5.5.4 Alpine Regions 62
- 5.5.5 The Arctic 63
- 5.5.6 Desert 63
- 5.5.7 Lichen on Lava 64
- 5.6 Conclusion and Future Prospects 64 References 65

#### 6 Physiology of Lichen 71

Farishta Yasmin and Rosni Jabin

- 6.1 Introduction 71
- 6.1.1 Mycobiont 72
- 6.1.2 Photobiont: Phycobiont and Cyanobiont (Cyanolichen) 72
- 6.2 Physiological Interaction 73
- 6.3 Metabolism 73
- 6.4 Physiological Peculiarities 74
- 6.5 Conclusion 77 References 77
- 7 Lichen as Pioneer of Natural Ecosystem 81

Bhaskor Kolita and Ridip Kumar Gogoi

- 7.1 Introduction 81
- 7.2 Lichens as Pioneer of Ecological Succession 82
- 7.2.1 Lichens as a Pioneer on Rock Surfaces 82
- 7.2.2 Lichens as Pioneers on Soil Surfaces 82
- 7.2.3 Lichens as Pioneers for Colonizers on Tree 83
- 7.3 Impact of Lichen on Natural Ecosystem 84
- 7.3.1 Impacts of Lichens on Biogeochemical Cycles of Ecosystem 84
- 7.3.2 Impact of Lichens on Maintaining Humidity and as a Source of Food and Shelter in the Ecosystem 84
- 7.4 Conclusion 86 References 86

**x** Contents

#### 8 Conservation of Lichens 91

Beena Kumari, Girish Kumar Sharma, Amit Vaish, Prashant Kumar, and Mohammad Javed Ansari

- 8.1 Introduction 91
- 8.1.1 History 91
- 8.1.2 What are Lichens? 91
- 8.1.3 Substrate and Habitat 92
- 8.1.4 Licheno-geographic Regions of India 95
- 8.1.5 Lichens in Indian Languages 95
- 8.1.6 Threats and Conservation of Lichens 96
- 8.2 Important Roles of Lichens 96
- 8.2.1 Role of Lichen as a Food Source *96*
- 8.2.2 Role of Lichen in Nitrogen Fixation 96
- 8.2.3 Lichen's Role as an Environmental Indicator 97
- 8.3 Biogeography (Geographic Distribution of Lichen) 97
- 8.3.1 Prominent Areas of Research in Conservation Biogeography 99
- 8.3.2 Why Lichens Require Special Conservation Measures 99
- 8.4 Conservation of Lichen Diversity 100
- 8.4.1 International Initiatives on the Conservation of Lichens 100
- 8.4.2 Lichen Conservation Initiatives in India 100
- 8.5 Conservation Challenges of Lichens 100
- 8.6 Recommendation for Conservation of Lichens 102
- 8.6.1 Species-based Conservation 102
- 8.6.2 Habitat-based Conservation 102
- 8.6.3 Issue-based Conservation 103
- 8.6.3.1 Urban/Sub-urban Development 103
- 8.6.3.2 Air Pollution 103
- 8.6.3.3 Invasive Exotic Plants 103
- 8.6.3.4 Forestry Practices 103
- 8.6.3.5 Wildfire 103
- 8.6.3.6 Smuggling and Poaching or Hunting 104
- 8.6.3.7 Illegal Grazing 104
- 8.6.3.8 Tourism 104
- 8.6.4 In Vitro Techniques for Lichen Conservation 104
- 8.6.5 Awareness Creation Activities 105
- 8.7 Conclusion 105 References 105

#### 9 Lichen at the Age of Climate Change 113

Barsha Devi

- 9.1 Introduction 113
- 9.2 Adaptation of Lichen to the Harsh Environment 114
- 9.3 Impact of Climate Change on Lichen Flora 114
- 9.4 Sensitivity of Lichen to Climate Change 116
- 9.5 Lichen as an Indicator of Climate Change 117

- 9.6 Transplant Experiment on Lichen 118
- 9.7 Carbon Sequestration by Lichen 119
- 9.8 Conclusion 120 References 120

#### **10 Commercial and Traditional Uses of Lichen** *125*

Farak Ali, Shahnaz Alom, Apurba Gohain, Sheikh Rezzak Ali, Nilayan Guha, and Shuby Kumari

- 10.1 Introduction 125
- 10.2 Historical Background 126
- 10.3 Lichen as Ethnomedicine 127
- 10.4 Cultural Aspects of Lichen 127
- 10.5 Commercial Uses of Lichen 132
- 10.6 Conclusion 133

References 134

#### **11 Bioactive Compounds in Lichens and Their Therapeutic Potential** *137*

Farhan Saeed, Muhammad Afzaal, Muhammad Ahtisham Raza,

Habiba Arooj, Mariam Islam, and Rimsha Gulzar

- 11.1 Introduction 137
- 11.2 Diversity in Lichens 138
- 11.2.1 Reindeer Lichens (Cladonia spp) 139
- 11.2.2 British Soldier Lichen (Cladonia genera) 139
- 11.2.3 Crustose Lichen 139
- 11.3 Bioactive Compounds in Lichens 140
- 11.3.1 Lichen Acids 140
- 11.3.2 Fumarprotoceteraric Acid 141
- 11.3.3 Lecanoric Acid 141
- 11.3.4 Therapeutic Potential of Lichens 142
- 11.3.5 Antimicrobial Activity 142
- 11.3.6 Antioxidant Activity 147
- 11.4 Conclusion 147
  - References 147

#### **12** Antioxidant Properties of Lichen 153

Hadiqa Faiz ul Rasul, Fareed Afzal, Waseem Khalid, Mateen Ahmad, Shirin gull, Izza Faiz ul Rasool, Maryam Ilyas, and Miral Javed

- 12.1 Introduction 153
- 12.2 Botanical History of Lichens 154
- 12.3 Classification of Lichen 154
- 12.3.1 Crustose Lichens 154
- 12.3.2 Fruticose Lichens 155
- 12.3.3 Foliose Lichens 155
- 12.4 Source and Formation of Lichen 156
- 12.5 Antioxidant Property 157

xii Contents

- 12.6 Constituents Responsible for Antioxidant Activity in Lichens 158
- 12.6.1 Phenolic Compounds 158
- 12.6.2 Usnic Acid (UA) 159
- 12.6.3 Atranorin 159
- 12.6.4 Lecanoric Acid 160
- 12.6.5 Fumarprotocetraric Acid 160
- 12.6.6 Orcinol, Orsellinic Acid and Orsellinates 161
- 12.7 Antioxidant Activity in Parmelia sulcata, Lasallia pustulata, Hypogymnia physodes 161
- 12.8 Constituents Responsible for Antioxidant Behavior in Cetraria islandica 161
- 12.8.1 Antarctica Lichens Extract 162
- 12.9 Techniques Used to Determine the Antioxidant Activities in Lichens 162
- 12.9.1 Cyclic Voltammetric Technique 163
- 12.9.2 Amperometric Technique 163
- 12.9.3 Biosensor Technique 163
- 12.9.4 Chromatographic Techniques 163
- 12.10 Conclusion 163 References 164

#### **13** Antimicrobial Activities of Lichens 169

Muhammad Zeeshan Ahmed, Tazeen Rao, Nihad Ashraf Khan, Muneeba Aslam, and Yunita Sari Pane

- 13.1 Introduction 169
- 13.2 Antimicrobial Compounds of Lichen 170
- 13.2.1 Dibenzofuran and Its Derivatives 170
- 13.2.2 Depsidones 172
- 13.2.3 Depsides 172
- 13.2.4 Quinones and Its Derivatives 173
- 13.2.5 Xanthones 173
- 13.2.6 Chromones and Pyrones 173
- 13.2.7 Nitrogenous and Sulfur-Containing Compounds 173
- 13.2.8 Steroids and Terpenoids 174
- 13.2.9 Ambuic Acid and Its Derivatives 174
- 13.2.10 Phenolic Compounds and Its Derivatives 174
- 13.2.11 Ether Derivatives 175
- 13.2.12 Miscellaneous Compounds 175
- 13.3 Lichen Species Having Antimicrobial Properties 175
- 13.3.1 Ramalina farinacea 176
- 13.3.2 Platismatia glauca 176
- 13.3.3 Evernia divaricata 176
- 13.3.4 Bryoria fuscescens 178
- 13.3.5 Alectoria sarmentosa 178
- 13.3.6 Cetraria pinastri (Scop.) Gray 178
- 13.3.7 Cladonia digitata (L.) Hoffm 179
- 13.3.8 Cladonia fimbriate (L.) Fr 179
- 13.3.9 Ochrolechia parella (L.) A. Massal 179
- 13.3.10 Parmeliopsis hyperopta 179

- 13.3.11 Lecanora frustulosa 180
- 13.4 Antibacterial Properties 180
- 13.4.1 Properties 180
- 13.4.2 Lichens Crude Extracts 181
- 13.4.3 Lichenic Acids 181
- 13.4.4 Bioactive Compounds 182
- 13.4.5 Secondary Metabolites of Lichens and Standard Antibiotics 182
- 13.5 Antifungal Properties 183
- 13.5.1 Lichens Crude Extracts 184
- 13.5.2 Secondary Metabolites of Lichens and Standard Antibiotics 186
- 13.5.2.1 Usnic Acid 186
- 13.5.2.2 Atranorin 187
- 13.5.2.3 Evernic Acid 187
- 13.5.2.4 Lobaric Acid 187
- 13.5.2.5 Vulpinic Acid 187
- 13.5.2.6 Physodic Acid 188
- 13.6 Conclusion 188 References 188

#### 14 Lichens: A Source of Anticancer Drugs 193

Ari Satia Nugraha, Thi Hai Yen Lam, Hendris Wongso, Lilla Nur Firli, and Paul A. Keller

- 14.1 Introduction 193
- 14.2 Lichen Extracts with Anticancer Activities 195
- 14.3 Lichen Compounds with Anticancer Activities 195
- 14.3.1 Depside 195
- 14.3.2 Depsidone and Pseudodepsidone 205
- 14.3.3 Dibenzofuran 209
- 14.3.4 Anthraquinone 211
- 14.3.5 Xanthone Derivates 213
- 14.3.6 Diketopiperazines 213
- 14.3.7 Terpenoids 217
- 14.3.8 γ-Lactonic Acid and Other Important Derivatives 219
- 14.4 Anticancer of Lichen in Animal Model 220
- 14.5 Conclusion and Future Perspective 223
  - References 223

### **15 Ethnobotanical and Pharmacological Properties of** *Parmelia*, *Cetraria*, *Cladonia*, and *Usnea* 231

Varsha Sharma and Alka Rajput

- 15.1 Introduction 231
- 15.2 Ethnobotanical and Pharmacological Properties of the Genus Parmelia 233
- 15.3 Ethnobotanical and Pharmacological Properties of the Genus Cetraria 238
- 15.4 Ethnobotanical and Pharmacological Properties of the Genus Cladonia 238
- 15.5 Ethnobotanical and Pharmacological Properties of the Genus Usnea 243
- 15.6 Conclusion 249 References 250

xiv Contents

#### **16 Food Values of Lichen** 261

Ashoke Kumar Das, Subrata Sarkar, Lily Devi, Chatna Hasnu, and Saurabh Bhattacharjee

- 16.1 Introduction 261
- 16.2 Historical Background *262*
- 16.3 Lichen as Food for Human 263
- 16.4 Lichen as Spices and Flavor Enhancer 264
- 16.5 Lichens as Beverage 267
- 16.6 Lichens as Feed 268
- 16.7 Conclusion 269 References 270

#### 17 Lichen as a Raw Material in Perfumery and Cosmetic Industries 275

Shahnaz Alom, Farak Ali, Bibhuti Busan Kakoti, Sandipan Choudhury, and Abdul Baquee Ahmed

- 17.1 Introduction 275
- 17.2 Historical Background of Lichens Used in Perfume Industry 276
- 17.3 Commercially Viable Lichen Species in Perfumery and Cosmetic Industries 277
- 17.4 Lichen as Perfume and its Chemistry 281
- 17.4.1 Evernia prunastri (Oakmoss) 281
- 17.4.2 Pseudovernia furfuraceae (Tree moss) 282
- 17.5 Conclusion 285 References 285

#### **18 Lichen as Bio Indicators** 289

Tridip Boruah, Himasri Devi, and Shilpa Sarkar

- 18.1 Introduction 289
- 18.2 Effective Biomonitoring of Lichen Species 290
- 18.3 Methods of Lichen Biomonitoring 292
- 18.4 Lichen as Indicator to Air Pollution 294
- 18.5 Lichen as Heavy Metal Indicator 296
- 18.6 Lichen as Indicator to Toxic Material 300
- 18.7 Conclusion 301 References 301

#### **19 Lichen Based Nanoparticles** 305

Swati Gajbhiye and Sanjay J. Dhoble

- 19.1 Introduction 305
- 19.2 Lichen Based Nanoparticles and Their Application 307
- 19.3 Biocompatibility of Lichen Based Nanoparticle 311
- 19.4 Biosynthesis of Lichen-Based Nanoparticles 312
- 19.5 Future Prospects and Conclusions 320 References 321

Index 325

#### **List of Contributors**

#### Muhammad Afzaal

Department of Food Science, Government College University, Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Fareed Afzal

Department of Food Science, Faculty of Life Sciences, Government College University, Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Mateen Ahmad

Department of Food Sciences, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan

#### Abdul Baquee Ahmed

Department of Pharmaceutics, Girijananda Chowdhury Institute of Pharmaceutical Science-Tezpur, Girijananda Chowdhury University, Sonitpur, Assam, India

#### Muhammad Zeeshan Ahmed

Department of Biochemistry, Bahauddin Zakariya University, Multan, Pakistan

#### Farak Ali

Girijananda Chowdhury Institute of Pharmaceutical Science, Tezpur campus, Girijananda Chowdhury University, Assam 784501, India

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences Dibrugarh University, Dibrugarh Assam, India

#### Sheikh Rezzak Ali

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences Dibrugarh University, Dibrugarh Assam, India

#### Shahnaz Alom

Girijananda Chowdhury Institute of Pharmaceutical Science, Tezpur campus, Girijananda Chowdhury University, Assam 784501, India

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Dibrugarh University Dibrugarh, Assam, India

#### Mohammad Javed Ansari

Department of Botany, Hindu College Moradabad (Affiliated to MJP Rohilkhand University), Bareilly, India

#### Habiba Arooj

Department of Food Science Government College University Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Muneeba Aslam

Department of Biochemistry, Abdul Wali Khan University, Mardan, Pakistan

#### Sourav Bhattacharjee

Department of Botany, Pandit Deendayal Upadhyaya Adarsha Mahavidyalaya, Tulungia, Bongaigaon, Assam, India

#### xvi List of Contributors

#### Munmi Borkataky

Department of Life Sciences Dibrugarh University, Dibrugarh Assam, India

#### Tridip Boruah

P.G. Department of Botany, Madhab Choudhury College Barpeta, Assam, India

#### Sandipan Choudhury

Girijananda Chowdhury Institute of Pharmaceutical Science, Tezpur campus, Girijananda Chowdhury University, Assam 784501, India

#### Bhaben Chowardhara

Department of Botany, Arunachal University of Studies, Namsai, India

#### Ashoke Kumar Das

Department of Botany, Abhayapuri College, Abhayapuri, Assam, India

#### Puja Namo Das

Plant Ecology Laboratory, P.G. Department of Botany, Madhab Choudhury College Barpeta, Assam, India

#### Barsha Devi

Department of Botany, Pandit Deendayal Upadhyaya Adarsha Mahavidyalaya Tulungia, Assam, India

#### Himasri Devi

P.G. Department of Botany, Madhab Choudhury College, Barpeta Assam, India

#### Lily Devi

Department of Botany, Bijni College, Bijni Assam, India

#### Papori Devi

Department of Botany, Arya Vidyapeeth College, Guwahati, Assam, India

#### Sanjay J. Dhoble

Department of Physics, R.T.M. Nagpur University, Nagpur, India

#### Krity Dulal

Plant Ecology Laboratory, P.G. Department of Botany, Madhab Choudhury College Barpeta, Assam, India

#### Lilla Nur Firli

Drug Utilisation and Discovery Research Group, Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Jember, Jember, Indonesia

#### Swati Gajbhiye

Department of Physics, R.T.M. Nagpur University, Nagpur, India

#### Ridip Kumar Gogoi

Bioinformatics Infrastructure Facility Centre Rajiv Gandhi University, Doimukh Arunachal Pradesh, India

#### Apurba Gohain

Department of Chemistry, Assam University, Silchar, Assam, India

#### Nilayan Guha

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences Dibrugarh University, Dibrugarh Assam, India

#### Shirin Gull

Department of Nutrition Science Faculty of Life Sciences, Government College University, Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Rimsha Gulzar

Department of Food Science, Government College University, Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Chetana Hasnu

Department of Botany, Pandit Deendayal Upadhyaya Adarsha Mahavidyalaya, Tulungia, Bongaigaon, Assam, India

#### Maryam Ilyas

Department of Human Nutrition & Dietetics Faculty of Life Sciences, Minhaj University Lahore, Pakistan

#### Mariam Islam

Department of Food Science Government College University Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Rosni Jabin

Department of Botany, Nowgong College (Autonomous), Nagaon, Assam

#### Miral Javed

College of Biosystem Engineering and Food Science, Zhejiang University Hangzhou P.R. China

#### Bibhuti Busan Kakoti

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences Dibrugarh University, Dibrugarh Assam, India

#### Paul A. Keller

School of Chemistry and Molecular Bioscience, Molecular Horizons University of Wollongong Wollongong, Australia

#### Waseem Khalid

University Institute of Food Science and Technology, The University of Lahore Lahore, Pakistan

#### Nihad Ashraf Khan

Department of Biosciences, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Jamia Millia Islamia University, New Delhi, India

#### Bhaskor Kolita

Department of Botany Jorhat Kendriya Mahavidyalaya Jorhat, Assam, India

#### Prashant Kumar

Department of Botany, Hindu College Moradabad (Affiliated to MJP Rohilkhand University), Bareilly, India

#### Beena Kumari

Department of Botany, Hindu College Moradabad (Affiliated to MJP Rohilkhand University) Bareilly, India

#### Shuby Kumari

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Dibrugarh University Dibrugarh, Assam, India

#### Thi Hai Yen Lam

Department of Bioorganic Chemistry Leibniz Institute of Plant Biochemistry Halle (Saale), Germany

#### Ratul Nath

Department of Life Sciences, Dibrugarh University, Dibrugarh, Assam, India

#### Ari Satia Nugraha

Drug Utilisation and Discovery Research Group, Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Jember, Jember, Indonesia

School of Chemistry and Molecular Bioscience, Molecular Horizons, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, Australia

#### Yunita Sari Pane

Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics, Faculty of Medicine Universitas Sumatera Utara, Medan Indonesia

#### Alka Rajput

Department of Botany, School of Applied, Basic and Biosciences, RIMT University Mandi-Gobindgarh, India

#### xviii List of Contributors

*Tazeen Rao* Department of Biochemistry, Bahauddin Zakariya University, Multan, Pakistan

#### Izza Faiz ul Rasool

Department of Food Science, Faculty of Life Sciences, Government College University, Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Hadiqa Faiz ul Rasul

Center of Agricultural Biochemistry and Biotechnology (CABB), University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Muhammad Ahtisham Raza

Department of Food Science, Government College University, Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Farhan Saeed

Department of Food Science, Government College University, Faisalabad, Pakistan

#### Shilpa Sarkar

P.G. Department of Botany, Madhab Choudhury College, Barpeta Assam, India

#### Subrata Sarkar

Department of Botany, Abhayapuri College, Abhayapuri, Assam, India

#### Girish Kumar Sharma

Department of Botany, Hindu College Moradabad (Affiliated to MJP Rohilkhand University), Bareilly, India

#### Varsha Sharma

Department of Zoology, School of Basic, Applied and Biosciences, RIMT University Mandi-Gobindgarh, India

#### Darshita Sinha

Department of Life Sciences Dibrugarh University, Dibrugarh Assam, India

#### Ludmilla Fitri Untari

Department of Tropical Biology The Faculty of Biology, Gadjah Mada University, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

#### Amit Vaish

Department of Botany, Hindu College Moradabad (Affiliated to MJP Rohilkhand University), Bareilly, India

#### Hendris Wongso

Research Center for Radioisotope Radiopharmaceutical, and Biodosimetry Technology, Research Organization for Nuclear Energy, National Research and Innovation Agency, Banten Indonesia

Research Collaboration Center for Theranostic Radiopharmaceuticals National Research and Innovation Agency, Sumedang, Indonesia

#### Farishta Yasmin

Department of Botany, Nowgong College (Autonomous), Nagaon, Assam

#### Preface

Lichens are symbiotically associated living organisms composed of algae (phycobiont) and fungi (mycobiont). They are ubiquitous in distribution, including some of the most extreme environmental conditions on the earth. Lichens grow on tree trunk, rock surface, old concrete building wall, and even in iron and other metal surfaces. They comprise about 8–10% terrestrial land cover of the earth's surface. About 20,000 species of lichens have been discovered, where mycobiont predominates with 90% of the thallus volume. Lichens are a source of unique metabolites which possess vast therapeutic applications such as anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, anticancer, and antimicrobial. Lichens are also a good source of human food and food for other animals due to presence of different nutritionally potential compounds. Lichens contain natural pigments and chemical components because of which they are used potentially in dyes and in perfume and cosmetic industries. They have also been recognized as bioindicators of environment pollutants, climate changes, and ecological continuity. Owing to their wide applications, it is important to understand the chemistry and biology of this distinct entity.

This book presents detailed aspects of lichens from their biology, morphology, taxonomy, ecology, physiology, etc. Unique ecological niche of lichens provides a habitat for other organisms to grow, which have been discussed in detail in the book. The impact of climate change on the lichen flora and various adaptive strategies embraced by lichens owing to the harsh environment have also been described. Lichens are sensitive to hazardous chemicals and thus popular as natural bioindicators, and thus details have been summarized. Lichens have an inimitable position in the pharmaceutical industry because of their bioactive class of compounds such as depsides, depsidones, dibenzofurans, terpenes, and xanthones, which have been discussed in detail in this book. This book emphasizes on various therapeutic properties of lichens such as antioxidant, antifungal, antibacterial, and anticancer with key discussion on important secondary metabolites. Various other applications such as food, beverage, perfumery, and cosmetic of lichens have also been discussed in detail. Important species of lichens (Parmelia, Cetraria, Cladonia, and Usnea) with promising therapeutic properties have been discussed as well in a separate chapter. In recent years, lichen-based nanoparticles have gained significant interest owing to their distinctive attributes and potential uses across diverse fields, and hence all the related aspects have been discussed. The book serves as a valuable asset for researchers and

#### **xx** Preface

graduate students of chemistry, botany, ecology, lichenology, biotechnology, microbiology, nanoscience, cosmetologist, and pharmaceutical sciences and for doctors (especially those engaged in Ayurveda and Traditional Chinese Medicine).

Ashoke Kumar Das Ajay Sharma Deepika Kathuria Mohammad Javed Ansari Garima Bhardwaj

#### 1

#### **Overview of Lichen**

Ashoke Kumar Das<sup>1</sup>, Subrata Sarkar<sup>1</sup>, and Papori Devi<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Botany, Abhayapuri College, Abhayapuri, Assam, India

<sup>2</sup> Department of Botany, Arya Vidyapeeth College, Guwahati, Assam, India

#### 1.1 Introduction

The term "lichen" was coined by Theophrastus (Father of Botany) more than two thousand years ago. Till the 19th century, lichens were thought to be individually recognized organisms. In 1869, only it was accepted that it was composed of two different organisms [1, 2]. Lichens are composed of different species of fungi (Mycobiont), algae, or cyanobacteria (Photobiont) [3–9], and some microorganisms like bacteria are also associated with them [10–14]. There is a long debate and study regarding the combination of association of different components of lichen symbiosis and their physiology [15–17]. Though lichen is composed of different components, they form morphologically constant forms that are designated as species [18]. They are frequently specified as the best example of mutualistic partnerships. Photobionts have the capacity to photosynthesize; they provide carbohydrates to the fungal partner, and the mycobiont creates a physical scaffold that encloses and supports the growth of photobionts [5]. According to Hawksworth, "a lichen is a stable self-supporting association of a mycobiont and a photobiont in which mycobiont is the exhabitant" [4]. Through a process called lichenization, a fungus and a photosynthetic partner transformed into a lichen thallus, from a free-living to a symbiotic state [19].

Lichens are distributed throughout the world and found to grow in almost all climatic conditions ("Lichens," [20]). They are dominating the earth's terrestrial ecosystem, particularly in the subarctic and arctic regions, covering about 8–10% of the total area [21]. About 13,500–20,000 species of lichens have been recognized globally so far [22–25]. According to the Botanical Survey of India, 19,500 species have been discovered so far ("Lichens," [20]). Lucking et al. made a prediction, which is 26,000 lichen taxa [26]. Among approximately 20,000 species of lichen-forming fungus known to exist worldwide, Ascomycetes make up 98% of all known lichenized fungi, followed by Deuteromycetes (1.6%), and Basidiomycetes (0.4%). On the other hand, there are only roughly 156 species of photobionts across 56 taxa. The majority of photobionts are either cyanobacteria (Cyanoprokaryota-35 species, 22.3%)

*Chemistry, Biology and Pharmacology of Lichen*, First Edition. Edited by Ashoke Kumar Das, Ajay Sharma, Deepika Kathuria, Mohammad Javed Ansari, and Garima Bhardwaj. © 2024 John Wiley & Sons Ltd. Published 2024 by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

#### 2 1 Overview of Lichen

or green algae (Chlorophyta-116 species, 73.9% of total photobiont diversity). The three most common photobiont genera in lichens are *Trebouxia*, *Trentepohlia*, and *Nostoc* [5].

Lichens are separated into two groups based on their size: macrolichens and microlichens. They are classified as corticolous, ramicolous, lignicolous, saxicolous, musicolous, terricolous, and foliicolous based on the substrate on which they develop. They are also separated into three groups based on their physical characteristics: foliose, fruticose, and crustose [27]. Anatomically, the majority of lichen thallus is stratified into the upper cortex, photobiont layer, medulla, and lower cortex. The cortex of many foliose and fruticose lichens is made up of pseudoparenchymatous or prosoplectenchymatous tissues of fungi. The medullary layer consists of loosely interwoven long-celled hyphae having internal airspace. The photobiont layer is formed by the upper part of the medulla. Crystalline secondary products often encrusted the hyphal cell walls of the algal and medullary layers. The lower cortex is well-developed in some typical foliose lichen groups like Parmeliaceae. Reproduction of lichen is mainly expressed by its fungal partner with sexual and asexual methods, while it is reduced in case of the algal partner in the lichenized state [28].

The significant role played by lichens includes natural soil formation and nutrient cycling [29]. For monitoring anthropogenic disturbances over time, such as air pollution, acid rain, nitrogen deposition, and several other environmental variables, lichens have been utilized as a crucial biological indicator [7, 30]. Since long time, a wide range of lichen species have been used as traditional medicine and in different folk cultures in countries like North America, Europe, India, Nepal, and China [31–35]. They are also good sources of human food and are also taken by various wild and domesticated animals as feed, containing a range of nutrients and biologically active compounds [36–38]. Some lichens are also used as raw materials in various industries like cosmetics and perfume, minerals, brewing, distilling, and essential oil [32, 38].

The globally declining trends of abundance and diversity of lichens have been documented by various authors across the world. Pollution due to industrialization, large-scale modern agriculture, urbanization, deforestation, habitat loss, overexploitation, global warming, and climate change are the main causes of their decline [22, 39].

#### 1.2 Distribution

Lichens have some surprising capacity of ecological resilience and adaptability. They can absorb and retain moisture from various sources, due to which they can easily grow in exposed substratum like leaves and barks of trees, rocks, etc., and can survive in extreme conditions like hot deserts, barren rocky cliffs, and frozen environments of the polar regions. They can also grow in the marble of old buildings and monuments [5, 25].

Lichens are an old group of fungi that may be traced back to 400 MA to the Early Devonian in the Rhynie chert deposits in Scotland and to 600 MA in marine phosphorite of the Doushantuo Formation at Weng'an in South China. The earliest ascomycetes may symbiotically associate with the already available algae and cyanobacteria, which formed the hypothetical *Protolichen* group. Eighteen (18) patterns of lichen distributions are described by Galloway, which are Cosmopolitan, Endemic, Austral, Bipolar, Paleotropical, Neotropical,

Pantropical, Australasian, Circum-pacific, Atlantic, Eastern North America-western European (amphi-Atlantic), Western North American-western European, Mediterranean, American-Asian, South American-African, Southern xeric and Boreal arctic-alpine taxa [40]. The cosmopolitan taxa are widespread in their occurrence and found in all land masses and various oceanic islands. The family Parmeliaceae has a worldwide distribution having species like Parmelia sulcata, Flavoparmelia caperata, Hypotrachyna sinuosa, Parmotrema perlatum, etc. The endemic lichen taxa are present in some particular geographical areas with limited distribution. Lichen flora of India comprises over 2900 species, among which 18% (540 species) are endemic. ("Lichens," [20]). In New Zealand, 23% of their lichen flora is endemic. Some of the endemic lichen species of New Zealand are Austrella brunnea, Caloplaca erecta, Lobaria asperula, Umbilicaria murihikuana, etc. A high percentage of endemic lichen flora is found in South Georgia (24%) to continental Antarctica (50%). The Austral taxa are represented by the southern hemisphere land masses, and the lichen flora is divided into Paleoaustral and Neoaustral lichens. The Paleoaustral lichens are represented by the primitive Gondwanan groups, which are poorly adapted for long-distance dispersal; examples are—Bartlettiella fragilis, Brigantiaea phaeomma, Bryoria austromontana, Caloplaca cribrosa, etc. The Neoaustral lichens are dispersed after Gondwanaland fragmentation, which takes place between the post-Oligocene and the present. Some examples of Neoaustral lichens are-Caloplaca cirrochrooides, Leifidium tenerum, Parmelia cunninghamii, etc. The lichens which are distributed in high latitudes of both the northern and southern hemispheres are the bipolar taxa. Some examples of bipolar lichen taxa are Cladonia ecmocyna, Caloplaca tornoensis, Bellemera alpine, etc. The lichen flora found in Africa, the Indian subcontinent, the Arabian peninsula, the Malesian Archipelago, and some islands of the Pacific Ocean are called Paleotropical taxa. Bactrospora metabola, Cladia aggregate, Parmelinopsis swinscowii, etc., are examples of Paleotropical taxa. The lichen species represented in some regions of South America and the Caribbean islands are known as Neotropical taxa. Some of the Neotropical lichen taxa are species of Erioderma, Leptogium, and Peltigera. Pantropical taxa are found in most of the tropical regions and show affinities with warm temperate characteristics, for example-species of Parmotrema, Glyphis, Graphis, etc. Australasian lichen taxa have similar characteristics to the lichen flora represented in Australia and New Zealand. Species of the genus Nothofagus, Placopsis, are included in the Australasian taxa. The Western Pacific lichen taxa are found in the extent northwards to Japan, westwards to India, and in some parts of Africa of Australia. Calopadia subcoerulescens, Parmelia erumpens, and Rinodina reagens are some examples of Western Pacific lichen taxa. The lichens found to grow around the Pacific Ocean are called Circum-Pacific taxa, for example—Hypogymnia pulverata, Placopsis cribellans, Mastodia tessellate, etc. The Atlantic lichen taxa are found in the islands of the Atlantic Ocean. Some Atlantic taxa are-Byssoloma croceum, Pyrenula hibernicum, Porina atlantica, etc. Lichen flora of present-day North Atlantic regions are known as Eastern North America-western European or amphi-Atlantic taxa. Comparatively, fewer lichen species are distributed in this region, some of them are Cladonia strepsilis, Rhizocarpon timdalii, Lasallia pustulata, etc. Various lichen taxa are restricted to the areas of western North America and Western Europe, for example—Cliostomum leprosum, Lecidella laureri, Rinodina disjuncta, etc. The Mediterranean lichen taxa are comprised of characteristics of different elements—northern, temperate, humid sub-tropical element, and arid. Some of the lichen species found in this

#### 4 1 Overview of Lichen

region are *Diploschistes diacapsis*, *Placidium fringens*, *Toninia tristis*, etc. The lichens are represented in the regions of eastern North American–eastern Asian pattern called American–Asian taxa, which are—species under the genus *Cetrelia*, *Collema*, *Allocetraria*, etc. The South American–African taxa of lichen are isolated between South America and southern Africa. Some of the lichen flora of this type are—*Peltula clavata*, *Umbilicaria haplocarpus*, *Caloplaca isidiosa*, etc. The Southern xeric taxa are distributed in the regions of southern Africa, Western Australia, South Australia, and southern New Zealand with characteristic climatic conditions like winter rainfall and summer drought. *Diploschistes hensseniae*, *Xanthoparmelia subimitatrix*, *Digitothyrea rotundata*, etc. are some of the species recorded under this region. The boreal arctic-alpine taxa are confined to the areas of the northern hemisphere, such as North America, Europe, and some parts of Asia. The lichen species found in this region are mostly growing in woodlands, heathlands, and tundra. Some of the lichen species found in this region are under the genus—*Cladonia*, *Cetraria*, *Vulpicida*, *Brodoa*, etc. [40].

Although the distribution range sizes and patterns of many lichen species resemble those of vascular plants, lichens have far more continental disjunctions. Species of "enigmatic disjunctions" are primarily characterized by having rather large distributional areas in each of the continents where they occur. An even more enigmatic portion of this group of disjunct species exhibits a normal-sized distributional area in one or more continents but an extremely restricted, point-like distribution in another. For example, *Alectoria imshaugii* grows in large areas of the west coast of North America from south Alberta to northeast California but is only known from Gomera to Hierro in the Canary Islands in Africa. *Cetraria odontella*, commonly found in Finland and Sweden has a holarctic distribution that can also be found on Australia's Mount Kosciusko. A most extreme type of enigmatic disjunct distribution is shown by *Coleopogon abraxus*, which was only known from a mountain on the east coast of Cape Town, South Africa, but has recently been observed in a forest of central Chile. Another species, *Acroscyphus sphaerophoroides*, is found to grow in 13 different areas of Bhutan, China, Canada, Japan, Patagonia, Peru, South Africa, and the United States [23].

#### 1.3 Morphology and Anatomy

In most of the lichen, the fungal partner mainly determines the morphological appearance. In only a few lichen thallus, it is determined by the algal partner. There are three morphological groups of lichens based on their habit-crustose, foliose, and fruticose [28, 41, 42]. The simple and undifferentiated thallus, with irregularly distributed algae, are known as homoiomerous, and more complex thallus, where algae are restricted to a particular layer in the thallus and medullas without algae are called heteromerous.

In crustose lichens, the thallus is tightly attached to the substratum and is difficult to detach from the surface. In most cases, the thallus contains a well-defined upper cortex, an algal layer, and a medulla. There are various subtypes of crustose lichens—powdery, endo-lithic, endophloeodic, squamulose, peltate, pulvinate, lobate, effigurate and suffruticose crusts. The powdery crusts or leprose type thallus are simple in structure, where fungal hyphae cover algal cells, and they have no definite algal or fungal layer, e.g. *Lepraria* genus.

The endolithic lichen (e.g. *Acrocordia conoidea* and *Verrucaria baldensis*) grows inside rock, while endophloeodic lichens grow underneath the cuticle of leaves and stems of higher plants. They are more organized in structure and form an upper cortex consisting of a densely conglutinated hyphal layer named "lithocortex." In the squamulose type of crustose lichen, the areolae are enlarged in the upper portion and become partly free from the substrate, often form overlapping scale-like squamules (e.g. genera like *Catapyrenium* and *Peltula*). In general like *Mobergia*, squamules are extremely inflated; they are called bullate type. The peltate type has more or less central attachment area on the lower surface of flat scales of squamulose thalli (e.g. *Peltula euploca* and *Anema nummularium*). In effigurate type of thallus, the marginal lobes are prolonged and are radially arranged, e.g. genera like *Caloplaca* and *Acarospora*. When the thallus becomes radially striate with marginal lobes, they are called lobate type of thallus [28].

The foliose lichens are flat and leaf-like, partially attached to the substratum. They have well-defined upper and lower surfaces with dorsiventral organization. The branching thallus bears several lobes. The foliose lichens may be of two types—laciniate and umbilicate. Laciniate lichens are lobate with various sizes. In *Parmelia* species, the lobes are radially arranged, and in *Peltigera*, lobes overlap, similar to tiles on a roof. In *Menegazzia*, thallus lobes are inflated with a hollow medullary center. Umbilicate lichen thallus is circular in look and consists of either one single unbranched lobe or a multilobate with a limited branching pattern. Umbilicate type of thallus has a central umbilicus, which arises from the lower surface and is attached to the substratum.

In Fruticose lichens, the thallus lobes are hair-like, strap-shaped, or shrubby; lobes are either flat or cylindrical. In some of the fruticose lichens, thallus is dorsiventrally arranged, e.g. *Evernia prunastri*. Some of them have radially symmetrical thalli, e.g. *Usnea* and *Ramalina* species [28].

The cortex is the outermost protective layer of stratified lichen thallus. In some foliose lichen, the cortex may also be present in the lower side of the thallus but is absent in the squamulose type. The photobiont layer of stratified lichen is formed just beneath the cortex. The medulla occupies most part of the thallus in stratified lichen composed of fungal hyphae.

#### 1.4 Reproduction

In a lichenized state, the fungal partner usually expresses full sexual and to a certain extent, asexual mode of reproduction, whereas in the case of an algal partner, it is a reduced type [28]. Since lichen cannot exist without the symbiotic relationship between a mycobiont and a photobiont, either both partners must be dispersed at the same time, or specific adaptations must guarantee contact and relichenization following the independent dispersal of mycobionts and photobionts. The lichen's symbiotic relationship allows it to thrive on a broad range of substrates under a range of climatic circumstances, but its primary means of dispersal—sexual or non-sexual—is determined by its mode of reproduction. After being released, the fungal spores germinate on an appropriate substrate, take up algae that are compatible with them, and grow new vegetative thalli. Mycobionts and photobionts coexist and reproduce to produce vegetative propagules such hormocysts, isidia, and soredia.

#### 6 1 Overview of Lichen

Even the typical means of propagation that photobionts experience in their free-living stage may be absent or extremely limited in lichenized conditions.

In lichens, one of the most common forms of vegetative reproduction is fragmentation. There is the potentiality to act as a source of regeneration of any portion of lichen thallus containing both the symbionts. The soredia are formed in specialized organ sorelia; they are the most common diaspore of foliose and fruticose lichen. Another diaspore is formed by isidia, which are finger-like projections with well-developed fungal tissue enclosed by algal cells. They are very commonly found in crustose, foliose, and fruticose lichen species. When the photobiont is a cyanobacteria, hormocytes are formed, which consist of trichomes or individual cells with a gelatinous sheath [43]. The sexual reproduction of Ascomycetes and Basidiomycetes fungi as a lichen partner is analogous to that in free-leaving Ascomycetes and Basidiomycetes [44].

#### 1.5 Lichen Phytochemicals

The secondary metabolites produced by lichen are known as lichen phytochemicals [45]. All these phytochemicals are of fungal origin [46]. Other than primary metabolites (proteins, amino acids, polyols, carotenoids, polysaccharides, and vitamins), lichen also produces over 700–1050 (including under culture) different secondary metabolites. The main categories of lichen phytochemicals are depsides, depsidones, dibenzofurans, anthraquinones, xanthones, chromones, pulvinic acid derivatives, terphenylquinones, terpenes and steroids. The medulla portion of lichen thallus mostly produces colorless depsides and depsidones. Usnic acid is also formed in the medulla portion [25, 47].

Lichen phytochemicals play some important ecological and medicinal roles, which determine the relative ecological success of individual lichen species. In lichen thallus, these phytochemicals are responsible for light-screening, chemical withering, biological defense, anti-herbivore defense, and allergenic. The yellow-colored cortical pigment, usnic acid is produced by thousands of lichen that are exposed to the sun, while the lichen containing a low concentration of depsides is grey-green in color and shade loving [48]. Many lichen substances exhibit multiple biological activities, such as the dibenzofuran usnic acid, which has characteristic antimicrobial, larvicidal, and anticancer properties, and is also known for its ultraviolet absorption. The phytochemicals are genetically regulated and, in certain cases are related to an individual's morphology and location within a species or genus. Since secondary metabolite distribution patterns are typically species-specific, they are frequently employed in lichen systematics and taxonomy. Secondary metabolites from lichens can act as allelopathic agents, which means they can have an impact on the growth and development of nearby lichens, mosses, and vascular plants as well as microbes. Some lichens can significantly inhibit the growth of higher plants. It has been demonstrated that two common species found in boreal forests, Cladonia stellaris and Cladonia rangiferina, exhibit allelopathic effects on white spruce and jack pine (Pinus banksiana) [25].

The most studied lichen substance is usnic acid, which was isolated in 1884 from Usnea and later from other lichen genera- *Cladonia*, *Hypotrachyna*, *Lecanora*, *Ramalina*, *Evernia*, *Parmelia* and *Alectoria*. Usnic acid is famous for its anti-proliferative activity and has anticancer potential. Cellular apoptosis (programmed cell death) of carcinogenic cell lines observed after treatment of usnic acid. It has the ability to affect cell lines of ovarian, hepatic, gastric, and breast cancer. Another compound atranorin extracted from some lichen species like *Everniastrum vexans* was tested for its anticancer properties. Regarding toxicity studies in the human body, there are some records in case of usnic acid [49].

#### **1.6 Economic Importance**

Lichens are good sources of food for humans and feed for other animals. *Cetraria islandica, Lecanora esculenta, Umbilicaria esculenta, Peltigera canina, Parmelia* sp., and *Ramalina sinensis* are consumed as food in different counties. *Cladonia rangiferind, C. rangiferina, Cetraria islandica,* species of *Parmelia, Evernia,* etc., are used as fodder in many countries. Some of the lichen species are used as flavoring agents, e.g. *Heterodermia tremulans,* species of *Pyxine, Physcia,* etc. Some lichen species are commercially used in the Litmus dye industry. Litmus mixture is obtained from *Roccella tinctoria.* Moreover, they are also used in the textile dye industry. Red-colored natural dye is obtained from *Rubia tinctorum* and *Rubia cordifolia. Evernia prunastri* has been used for making perfume and the cosmetic industry.

There are several lichen species that have medicinal properties, such as antimicrobial, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, insecticidal, antipyretic, etc. Usnea sp. (anticancer), U. esculenta (anti-HIV), Parmelia sp. (wound healing), etc., are some medicinal lichens [37]. Scientific investigations have identified a large number of lichen species, indicating their biological activity and application in traditional medicine. About 60 lichen genera that have been traditionally employed by various cultures worldwide, primarily in North America, Europe, and Asia. Traditionally, the most commonly used lichen genera is Usnea, which is used around the world. The lichen genera Cladonia, Ramalina, Lobaria, Pertigera, Evernia, Pseudevernia, Umbilicaria, Xanthoparmelia, Letharia, Cetraria, Parmotrema, Thamnolia are used for various medical conditions like external injuries, skin infections, respiratory ailments, etc. C. islandica has been used in European pharmacopoeias to treat lung disease, cold symptoms, and gastroenteritis since 1500. Pseudevernia furfuracea was used by the Egyptians in the process of embalming mummies for aromatic purposes and is now effectively used in the perfume industry. In India, Usnea longissima has been used in traditional medicine for its analgesic, cardiotonic, digestive, and woundhealing properties [49].

Due to their sensitivity to various pollutants (nitrogen, sulfur, etc.) and heavy metals, lichens are widely recognized as bioindicators of environmental pollution. The health condition of lichen can indicate the accumulation of heavy metals showing its negative effect [25, 29].

#### 1.7 Conservation

The rate of species extinction in the Anthropocene has been 100–1000 times higher than the background rate, or 0.1–1 million species per year. They have coincided with reductions in the useful biodiversity [50]. Experts in biodiversity calculated that since 1500, over

#### 8 1 Overview of Lichen

30% (uncertainty range: 16–50%) of species have faced worldwide threats or have been driven extinct. Habitat loss and climate change are predicted to worsen the extent of biodiversity loss. According to expert estimates, either 41% (range: 30-60%) or 80% (range: 63-95%) of species are threatened or driven to extinction when 50% or 90% of their habitat is lost. Additionally, the experts calculated that a 2°C or 5°C increase in global warming would drive approximately 25% (range: 15-40%) or 50% (range: 32-70%) of species to extinction [51]. Lichens are ubiquitous in terrestrial ecosystems across the globe and are ecologically significant symbioses that are well-known to non-scientists. They play an immense role in a variety of crucial ecological processes and ecosystem performance including as soil formation, nutrient cycling, rock weathering, and humidity regime regulation. The abundance and diversity of lichen across the globe have been declining. The main threats that apply to biodiversity in general are also true for lichens [39]. Lichens suffer from a loss of diversity and abundance on a variety of levels, ranging from entire communities to individual species and populations. The variety and abundance of lichens are adversely affected by numerous well-established human-mediated activities. Climate change and habitat loss are two of these challenges that affect almost all forms of biodiversity. Lichens are disproportionately affected by other hazards, such as air pollution, in comparison to other types of organisms. It has long been known that overbrowsing of the Cladonia by growing populations of reindeer in Scandinavia and Alaska is a major contributing element to the drastic loss in lichen cover, which could pose a significant threat to the husbandry of reindeer. The species richness and composition of lichen communities are significantly impacted by both deforestation and the deterioration of lichen habitats caused by the planting of plantation forests in place of natural forests [39].

Lichens are protected under the Endangered Species Act at the federal level in the USA. Currently, only two endemic species from the Southeast of the United States are listed as endangered species: *Cladonia perforata* and *Cetradonia linearis*. Since these species were added to the list more than 20 years ago, researchers have paid considerable attention to them, focusing mostly on mapping their ranges and learning about the genetics and demographics of the populations [22]. Effective lichen conservation plans typically integrate attempts to preserve or enhance the size, demographics, and genetic makeup of populations with the goal of protecting environments. The preservation of habitat size, connectivity, and quality should be the key goals of lichen conservation. In contrast to dynamic habitats like woods, grasslands, and gravel fields, permanent ecosystems like mountain ridges can best be preserved by static protection, which is also very simple to accomplish [39].

#### 1.8 Conclusion

Lichens are the predominant flora on Earth exhibiting extensive biological, physiological, and chemical peculiarities. The fungal partner is the main component of the lichen thallus with regard to its morphology, but the algal partner is necessary from a nutritional standpoint. With the successful partnership of symbiosis, they are dominating a large terrestrial ecosystem on Earth. A wide range of secondary products has made them an essential natural treasure house for human food, medicine, and various industrial products.